ISCTE O Business School Instituto Universitário de Lisboa

THE DECISION MAKING PROCESS OF CONSUMERS IN RELATION TO PRIVATE LABELS – THE SPECIFIC CASE OF YOGURTS IN PORTUGAL

Pedro M^a da Cunha Policarpo Ferreira Mendes

Dissertation for the MSc in Marketing

Supervisor:

Prof. Ana Oliveira-Brochado, Assistant Professor, ISCTE Business School, Marketing, Operations and General Management Department

April 2013

Acknowledgments

To Professor Ana Oliveira-Brochado for helping me throughout this thesis. I thank her for all the support, availability and, most of all for motivating me to search for more knowledge and continuously improve my work.

To my family, who always believed in me throughout the course of this master program, even in the moments where I doubted myself they gave me strength to follow through. Also, for their unconditional support that led me to the place I'm at today.

To all my friends and colleagues who helped me with the research, especially in the distribution of the questionnaire, and anyone else that contributed for the success of this project.

Thank you all!

Abstract

Over the last few decades, private labels have grown and become an important competitive force on the marketplace. The general consumer of fast-moving consumer goods has changed his shopping habits and, now worries more about what he buys for the supply of his household. The economic crisis and the great amounts of information retailers provided about these products accelerated the success of these brands. As store brands grew, so did the academic and managerial interest in them. Throughout the past literature we see various researches on the determinants for the success of private labels and the key characteristics consumers take into account when selecting a brand. This study aims to point out the determinant factors that lead consumers to select private label goods in a specific industry, the Portuguese yogurt market. This is a thriving industry for store brands in Portugal, reaching almost half of the total market share.

Resumo

Durante as últimas décadas, as marcas próprias cresceram e tornaram-se numa importante força competitiva no mercado. A generalidade dos consumidores de bens de grande consumo mudou os seus hábitos enquanto comprador e, agora preocupa-se mais com aquilo que compra para a sua casa. A crise económica e as grandes quantidades de informação disponibilizada pelos retalhistas sobre estes produtos acelerou o sucesso destas marcas. Com o crescimento das marcas próprias, cresceu também o interesse académico e administrativo sobre estas marcas. Ao longo da literatura vemos que foram feitos vários estudos sobre quais os determinantes para o sucesso das marcas próprias e as características fundamentais que os consumidores utilizam para seleccionar marcas. Este estudo tem como principal objectivo encontrar os factores determinantes que levam os consumidores a escolher bens de marca própria numa indústria específica, o mercado Português dos iogurtes. Esta é uma indústria próspera para as marcas próprias em Portugal, atingindo quase metade do total de quota de mercado.

Sumário Executivo

Como já foi dito anteriormente, nos últimos anos as marcas do retalhista ganharam muita notoriedade e revolucionaram os mercado de grande consumo um pouco por todo o mundo. Os consumidores mudaram a sua opinião sobre estas marcas. Actualmente, a população em geral tem uma ideia favorável das marcas próprias e começa a utilizar estas marcas regularmente nas compras para a sua casa. Este crescimento tem sido seguido atentamente por variados trabalhos académicos e estudos de mercado que procuram perceber a escalada rápida destas marcas.

Um dos grandes objectivos desta teses passa por contribuir para esta literatura com algo sobre as marcas próprias no nosso país. Esta dissertação caracteriza-se como sendo um estudo exploratório ao sector dos iogurtes em Portugal. A selecção desta indústria devese ao facto de ser um dos mercados que melhor espelha o sucesso das marcas próprias. De acordo com dados da AC Nielsen (2010), as marcas do retalhistas representam 40% do mercado dos iogurtes em valor e 48% em volume. Este estudo tem como principal missão analisar quais os principais determinantes que levam os consumidores a escolher as marcas próprias.

A recolha de dados para este estudo foi feita através de um questionário, dividido em quatro partes principais. A primeira parte tem questões relativas ao comportamento de compra dos inquiridos. O principal objectivo desta fase é perceber os hábitos de compra dos consumidores e com que frequência compram marcas próprias de iogurtes. A realçar desta parte a questão Q8, que nos diz que a média de marcas próprias de iogurtes compradas pelos inquiridos é de 45,7%.

A segunda e terceira partes foram as partes essenciais deste questionário, uma vez que analisam os factores individuais que podem influenciar os consumidores no momento da escolha de um produto. Na última parte do questionário encontravam-se questões demográficas e sócio-económicas, cujo o principal objectivo é criar um perfil da amostra.

Após esta recolha de dados, recorreu-se à análise factorial exploratória e à análise de regressão para se perceber quais os factores que os inquiridos consideram mais

significativos para a adopção de um produto (iogurte) de marca própria. Dos resultados conclui-se que as seguintes variáveis são significativas:

- Perception of private labels (PPL)
- Price consciousness (PC)
- Value consciousness (VC)
- Price/quality perception (PQP)
- Perceptional consequences of making a bad choice (PCMBC)
- ➢ Brand loyalty (BL)
- Social consciousness (SC)

As conclusões deste estudo serão úteis a todos os agentes económicos do sector dos iogurtes, bem como dos bens de grande consumo em geral. Para além disso, esta análise poderá ser uma referência para estudos futuros sobre este tema.

Keywords

Private Labels, Store Brands, Retailers, Consumers

JEL Classification System

- ► M31 Marketing
- C12 Hypothesis Testing: General

Contents

1. Introduction
1.1 Background
1.2 Goals
1.3 Methodology
<i>1.4 Structure</i>
2. Literature Review
2.1 Consumer shopping behavior – adoption of a product and product preferences
2.2 Determinants for the adoption of a product
2.2.1 Individual Factors
2.2.1.1 Price consciousness
2.2.1.2 Value consciousness 15
2.2.1.3 Price-quality association
2.2.1.4 Perception of private labels
2.2.1.5 Involvement with the product category
2.2.1.6 Brand Loyalty (loyalty to national brands)
2.2.1.7 Product signatureness
2.2.2 Demographic and Socio-economic Factors
2.2.2.1 Gender
2.2.2.2 Age
2.2.2.3 Occupation/Profession
2.2.2.4 Household Size
2.2.2.5 Qualifications
2.2.2.6 Marital Status
2.2.2.7 Monthly Income of the Household
3. Methodology
3.1 FMCG Sector profile in Portugal
3.2 Yoghurt sector profile in Portugal
3.3 Research objectives
3.4 Data collection methods
3.4.1 Focus group – Qualitative research
3.4.2 Questionnaire – Quantitative research
3.4.2.1 Macro-structure of the questionnaire
3.4.2.2 Micro-structure of the questionnaire

3.4.2.3 Questionnaire distribution 4	2
3.5 Sample design4	13
3.6 Statistical methods4	13
4. Analysis	14
4.1 Sample Description4	14
4.1.1 Socio-demographic description4	14
4.1.2 Shopping behavior description4	16
4.2 Exploratory factor analysis4	19
4.3 Regression analysis5	52
4.3.1 Objectives of multiple regression	52
4.3.2 Model 1 – dependent variable measured in a scale from 1 to 5 (never to always) 5	;3
4.3.3 Model 2 – dependent variable measured in percentage (%)5	54
5. Discussion, conclusions, limitations and implications for future research	56
5.1 Discussion	56
5.2 Conclusions	58
5.3 Limitations and implications for future research5	;9
6. References	50
7. Attachments	6

1. Introduction

1.1 Background

In recent years, there has been a big increase of academic and managerial interest in private label brands. Private labels, also called store brands, are brands developed by retailers. The motivation behind this rising interest is the increasing presence of store brands throughout the fast-moving consumer goods market (FMCG). Over the last years, sales of store brands have expanded exponentially, which enabled them to become a strong and competitive side against national brands, or brands developed by manufacturers (Ailawadi and Keller, 2004; Batra and Sinha, 2000).

Looking specifically into the Portuguese FMCG industry, we see that it has followed the pattern of the rest of the world, showing significant increase in sales volumes for private labels across the different product categories. This has happened for two main reasons. The first one is that the general consumers of FMCG have changed their opinion about store brands, looking at these products in a favorable way and buying them regularly when they're out grocery shopping. Initially, consumers didn't trust retailer's brands due to the fact that they were associated with low quality, and tended to opt for manufacturer brands. But, private labels stayed on the market, allowing customers to get more knowledge on these products and trying them.

This changed the general population's opinion, turning private label goods into a good option regarding their good price/quality ratio. This led to the second main reason for the private label success, which is the economic crisis the country is living in. With the unemployment rate at a level never seen before and tax rates registering new maximums, the Portuguese consumers had to rethink the way they were spending their wages. It was important to cut consumption costs and store brands, with their significantly lower prices than national brands, were a great option for families throughout the country.

<u>1.2 Goals</u>

Like I previously said, private labels have grown a lot over the past years and the context we live in today shows that there's still room for them to grow even more. The main reason for their exponential growth is their price, but the truth is that there are many other factors that can influence the consumers when adopting a certain brand. So, the main goals of this thesis are:

- Identify the main factors Portuguese consumers take into consideration when selecting a brand;
- Identify the main differences that lead to the selection of a store brand over a national brand;
- > Understand the general consumer's perception of private label goods.

1.3 Methodology

In order to successfully achieve all the proposed goals above it was necessary to review the literature on the topic. The main goal with this step was to identify and select the main dimensions that consumers take into consideration when selecting a product or brand. The idea was to look at the previous studies and research on the subject, selecting the best scales to reach this study's objectives and to help with the construction of the questionnaire.

After this initial phase, a first version of the questionnaire was put under examination in a focus group, with participants from the target population of this study. With the insights given by the participants a final version of the questionnaire was developed, with the changes in sentence construction and the language used being the major adjustments. This stage helped me suit the questionnaire for the average person.

In order to analyze the data collected from the questionnaire, the statistical treatment was conducted using SPSS software. Like I have previously said, the main goal was to identify the most important factors consumers take into consideration when selecting private label brands.

1.4 Structure

The thesis is divided into four main chapters:

- Literature review Consumer's determinants for the adoption of a product
- Methodology
- Analysis of the collected data
- Discussion of results and final conclusions

The first chapter is a literature review, divided into two main topics: consumer shopping behavior and the determinants for the adoption of a product. The second chapter is the methodology, in which is described how the research was conducted and how it was divided into different stages. The third chapter is the analysis of the data collected for the purpose of this study. This chapter is divided into three parts: sample description, exploratory factor analysis and regression analysis. The final chapter of this thesis is a discussion of the results and outcomes of this study, with the final conclusions.

2. Literature Review

2.1 Consumer shopping behavior – adoption of a product and product preferences

Consumer behavior is the study of the processes involved when individual or groups select, purchase, use, or dispose of products, services, ideas, or experiences to satisfy needs and desires (Solomon, 1999). Consumers are constantly confronted with the need to make decisions about products. For Solomon (1999), there are five different stages when making a typical decision (figure 1):

- 1) **Problem recognition**: Occurs when the consumer sees difference between the current state and the ideal state. In this pre-purchase phase the customer initially understands the need to act (need recognition). The way a problem is placed (framing) will affect the purchase decision, as well as the fact that the problem is or isn't placed in terms of gains and losses. Additionally, the people use heuristics to simplify the decision making, in other words, the price is positively related to quality.
- 2) **Information search**: This is the process by which we survey the environment for appropriate data to make a reasonable decision. After understanding the problem, the consumer starts the process of searching information in internal (example: memory) and external sources (example: advertising, family, product testing).
- 3) **Evaluation of alternatives**: The consumer evaluates several alternatives to how he can get to a solution. In this stage the consumer has to evaluate and try to avoid taking risks.
- 4) Product choice: After looking at all the alternatives, it's time for the consumer to form an intention to purchase. In this stage, many factors can affect the act of purchasing, such as the physical environment, the social environment, time factors and prior experiences. The environment where the purchase is made is also crucial in the moment of purchase, with factors such as store image, atmosphere, exhibitors influencing in all the process.

5) **Outcomes**: This phase corresponds to the consumer's post-purchase behavior, which depends on the level of satisfaction with the end result. The happier a customer, the higher is the probability of making a repeat purchase. The customer's satisfaction is determined by their overall feeling about the product after the purchase. There are various factors influencing the perception of a quality of a product, such as price, brand and product performance (Solomon, 1999). The satisfaction depends of the performance of a product meeting the consumer's expectations.



Figure 1 – Stages in consumer decision making

The selection of a store brand over a national brand can be made in the first three stages (problem recognition, information search and evaluation of alternatives) of the decision making process. The other two stages can also be important because we're talking about a repetitive process, where previous purchases/choices and their outcomes might influence future decision making processes.

2.2.1 Individual Factors

2.2.1.1 Price consciousness

The concept of price consciousness is defined as the degree to which the consumer focuses exclusively on paying a low price (Lichtenstein et al., 1993). Therefore, price conscious consumers are concerned about searching for a low price in the marketplace, and they derive emotional value and entertainment from shopping for lower prices (Alford and Biswas, 2002).

Consumers who are price conscious verify the money they spend, compare prices of different brands in different stores before they make the final purchase and tend to buy the product with the lowest price (Ghodeswar, 2007). According to Burton et al. (1998), consumers with positive attitudes towards private labels are extremely price conscious and tend to focus almost exclusively in paying low prices, due to the wish to maximize their money, minimizing other factors when evaluating a brand.

This is, obviously, an individual characteristic that varies from consumer to consumer depending on their sensitiveness to the prices. This concept of price sensitivity is, a similar concept to the consciousness one, that can help us better understand this variable. A consumer is price sensitive, when the sales are considerably affected by the changes in price (East, 1997). This author also refers that the consumers can show different sensitivities to price. For Ailawadi et al. (2001), private label consumers are very sensitive to price in opposition to their sensitiveness to quality, and seek variety in their purchases.

Previous studies show that the level of sensitiveness to price increases, when consumers have lower incomes (Gabor and Granger, 1979; Lumpkin et al., 1986). Hoch (1996) verified that consumers with higher incomes show a lower sensibility to price and, therefore, less likely to purchase private label goods. This negative relation is confirmed by Sethuraman and Cole (1999), who said that individuals with higher levels of education and higher incomes are less sensitive to price and more willing to pay high

prices for branded goods. In other words, the authors verified the existence of a negative correlation between the level of qualifications and income and the amount of private labels purchased.

Another important concept related with this variable is the perception of price. In the case of private label products, because of their intrinsic lower cost characteristics, their price perception is always marked lower than the branded products by retailers such as hypermarkets and national retailing chain stores (Miranda and Josh, 2003). This constant idea leads to the phenomenon that consumers are willing to pay less for store brands than national brands (Scott Morton and Zettelmeyer, 2004). Hassan and Dilhan (2006) concluded that the consumers are willing to choose a store brand over a national brand, only if it has lower price but equal or higher quality (higher value).

According to Lichtenstein et al. (1993), the price is undoubtedly one of the most important signs from the market. Such influence is due to the fact that the price is present in all purchase situations and, at least, represents to the consumers the amount of economic resources one has to spend in order to make a transaction in the marketplace. If the price is strictly understood this way, higher prices will have a negative impact on the probability of making a purchase.

Nevertheless, some investigators consider the price to be a more complex variable and lots of consumers understand the concept of price in a more embracing way. For example, consumers who use price as a quality indicator, associating high prices with superior quality. Therefore, the higher prices will positively affect the probability of making a purchase (Lichtenstein et al., 1993; Zeithaml, 1988). However, Dick et al. (1997) refer that the consumers with a predisposition to buy store brands don't really believe in the price/quality relation. In their opinion, the fact you're paying higher prices doesn't mean you're buying a product with superior quality.

In this context, Raju et al. (1995) defends that the private labels can be more successful in product categories where the consumers are more sensitive to the price, thus, a possible explanation for the different market shares of private labels along the different product categories.

According Cotteril et al. (2000), price works as a marketing strategy for retailers to compete with the advertising done by the national brands. These authors saw in their study that when a national brand has more visibility on the market and the effect of publicity is effective, the store brands have lower prices. Also, when there are variations in the price of the national brand, there's a positive effect on the sales of the store brands. With this said, we can conclude that the introduction of a store brand on the market will provoke an increase in the price of the national brand.

More recent studies confirm this idea that price can work as a competitive advantage for the store brands. For this motive, Cardoso and Alves (2008) said that consumers who are more sensitive to price will eventually choose the private label in the moment of purchase.

Throughout the literature there's enough evidence to conclude that the higher the customer's sensitiveness to price the higher will be his proneness to buying private labels.

2.2.1.2 Value consciousness

Value consciousness is conceptualized as reflecting a concern for price relative to quality received (Lichtenstein et al., 1993). This is a wider concept than the price consciousness as it relates quality with price. Value consciousness has been defined as the concern for paying low prices subject to some quality constraint, relating the perceived costs and the perceived benefits (Lichtenstein Ridgway and Netemeyer, 1993). In order to study this variable, it is crucial to understand the concepts of perceived quality and perceived value.

It's through the perceived value of a product that a consumer makes his purchase decision. Kotler (1998) refers that the perceived value is the value that clients attribute to a product or service, according to the relation between the benefits they're going to receive from it, according to the consumer's perspective, and the perceived costs of making the purchase, in comparison with the competition. Similarly, product value is often characterized as the ratio of the perceived quality of a product divided by the price paid for that product (Zeithaml, 1988).

Quality is a subjective concept, in the sense that it's directly related to the perception of each individual. Certain factors – such as culture, type of product or service, the needs and expectations – influence the different meanings each one gives to the concept of quality. Perceived quality can be defined as a process of comparison between expectations of the consumer and the performance perception of a certain product or service.

In a more specific definition, Zeithaml (1988) defines quality as the appreciation a consumer has about the global excellence or superiority of a certain product or service. The author refers that perceived quality, which is different from the objective or real quality, involves a high degree of abstraction, instead of representing a specific characteristic of a product. It's associated with a global evaluation and refers to the appreciation, normally, made by the consumer.

In fact, the perceived quality between store brands and national brands plays a dominant role in the decision making process of consumers when purchasing a certain product or service (Sethuraman, 1992). Throughout the present literature there are many approaches relating these three concepts explained above.

Aggarwal and Cha (1998) say that when the store brands and the national brands have the same price, the perceived value of the national brand is, generally, higher and most consumers will probably purchase the national brand. This is due to the fact that the national brands are perceived as having higher quality. Dick et al. (1995) share the same idea, pointing out that consumers tend to believe that products from store brands are produced with low quality ingredients and for that motive have lower nutritional value, justifying their reluctance and uncertainty towards private labels.

Throughout their study, the researchers also verified that consumers who are prone to buying private labels give a higher value for money, than the consumers who are less prone to buying private labels. In other words, consumers who are predisposed to buying private labels are more sensitive to the price/quality ratio than the consumers who are less keen on purchasing these brands. Dick et al. (1995) concluded that the customers, who are more prone to buying private labels, don't tend to use the brand as a decisive variable. They also believe that paying high prices doesn't mean more quality. In this case, the consumers that choose a private label use less extrinsic signals, when evaluating the quality of a product.

Many authors have shown in their literature that private labels have their own qualities and must make the most of these advantages, in order to captivate consumers. Ailawadi et al. (2001) and Burton et al. (1998) believe in the idea that the low prices from store brands can be used as an incentive to improve the image of the store's prices and to attract consumers who are value conscious. With these two characteristics, it's possible to verify that the price can have different implications on the perceived value of customers and, therefore, on the perception of quality.

Similarly, Garretson et al. (2002) report, from their studies, that the perceived value influences positively the purchase of private label goods. However, while the perceived value is a common trace for those who look for "price savings", the perception of price when related with the quality of the product (price as a quality indicator) presents the opposite effect. For these consumers the low average price of private labels turns these products less attractive, associating them with inferior quality.

The promotional messages used by retailers encourage consumers to use private labels, focusing on product value as the determinant attribute, which can be explained by the fact that value conscious consumers are less loyal to national brands and are keener on changing or purchasing store brands (Garretson et al., 2002). Another way to increase their sales is working on continuously building a better quality perception for their own brands. The negative perception consumers have of the quality of store brands works as an obstacle when trying to increase sales.

We can conclude that the various articles analyzed show the existence of a positive association between the attitude towards private labels and the value consciousness.

2.2.1.3 Price-quality association

It's natural for consumers to use the price as an indicator for the quality perception of certain products. Since quality is a subjective concept, consumers aren't sure about their own quality perceptions and tend to look for signs and information to make better judgments. With this said, we can say that the price has an important role in the customer's perception of the quality of a product.

The price of a product tends to be a suggestion of its quality always that other information, whether it's intrinsic or extrinsic cues, on the product is missing. If there is no previous experience or information about the characteristics, the consumers evaluate the quality through extrinsic cues such as price, brand image or the company's image (Schiffman and Kanuk, 2000).

According to Liechenstein et al. (1993) the perception of price/quality is defined as the generalized belief that the suggested level of price is positively related with the level of quality of a product in all product categories. In other words, consumers tend to associate low prices with low quality and higher prices with superior quality. This means that brands that, in a certain product category, have a lower price are seen has being of inferior quality.

Looking at the two variables defined before (price and value consciousness) and relating them with this price/quality association, Garretson et al. (2002) refers that while the value consciousness is common amongst those who are looking to save on prices, the perception of price in terms of its relation with product quality, has the opposite effect.

For these consumers the, generally, low prices of store brands causes these products to be seen as less attractive, constituting the price a sign for low quality. This will lead to a negative attitude towards private labels. Like Burton et al. (1998) says, low prices are associated with low quality, so low prices in a certain product category are seen as being of inferior quality.

Wolinsky (1987) argues a similar point of view, defending the existence of a direct and negative relation between PLBs and consumers who tend to associate low prices with

low quality. Hoch et al. (1996) reached a conclusion to reinforce this idea, saying that consumers perceive store brand products as low quality and inferior goods. So, the attitude towards the private labels is negatively linked with the price/quality perceptions, favoring the national brands. With this being said, the consumers with high price/quality perceptions are faithful to the national brands, which have a higher price.

This can be explained through the attribution theory (Sawyer and Dickson, 1984), which says that a low price for private label brands may be attributed to some problematic aspect of the product, which is then perceived as inferior in the overall level of quality. Also, the continuously low prices combined with the infrequent professionally developed advertising campaigns might offer more evidence for those who associate price with quality that private label brands are undesirable.

Due to all these issues, we've recently seen an evolution in the private label's positioning. Retailers have been changing the positioning of their own private labels focusing more on quality rather than price, with the objective of producing better perceptions and rising consumer's loyalty to their brands. With investments in packaging design and communication, frequently using imitation strategies from other companies, retailers are hoping to change the customers' mindsets and creating a better price/quality balance.

This is the only strategy that store chains can adopt when relating price with quality. Since they have lower prices, there will always be the idea in customer's minds that the product has lower quality. So, private labels must point out their own strengths focusing on the price/quality balance. This concept, like the name says, is based on the idea of balancing out the two concepts rather than using price as an indicator for quality. According to Deveny (1993) and Liesse (1993), it has been suggested that where consumers balance price and quality there's a more favorable attitude towards private labels.

To sum up, we can expect that there will be a negative relation between the price/quality perception of consumers and the adoption of private labels.

2.2.1.4 Perception of private labels

The perception that a consumer has of private labels is directly related with a concept that we've previously discussed when looking at the value consciousness variable. The idea a customer has about a certain product or brand can be drawn from the concept of quality. Similarly, to what I've said before the perception of quality is a subjective concept as it is directly related to the perception of each individual. Various factors, such as culture, type of product or service, the needs and expectations, influence the idea each individual has of quality. So, it's fundamental to understand how the consumers evaluate and make decisions.

Consumers can make evaluations using a variety of information signals that they associate to products. The current literature shows that, when assessing the quality of private labels, consumers use either intrinsic cues (Sprott and Shimp, 2004) or extrinsic cues (Bao et al., 2002). Intrinsic cues have to do with any kind of information about product ingredients, how the product is made, or any other physical characteristic of the product – such as color, taste, size and scent.

While extrinsic cues have to do with signs that exist independently of product attributes and physical components, in other words, signs which are external to the product. Extrinsic cues can be a lot of things, such as brand name, price, advertising, package design, manufacturing difficulty, identity of production companies, and quality variance of a product category (Bao et al., 2010; Del Vecchio, 2001; Richardson et al., 1994).

According to the cue utilization theory, consumers tend to rely more on extrinsic cues than intrinsic in quality evaluation of private labels (Richardson et al., 1994). This happens because, most of the time, consumers are not equipped with the tools and knowledge to assess quality using intrinsic cues, such as the ingredient quality of a certain product. In most cases this evaluation can only be done by manufacturers, institutions, companies or specialists who have the necessary skills and equipment (Dick et al., 1997).

So, in the case of not having any previous experience with the product, or information on its characteristics, the consumer evaluates the quality of a product through extrinsic signals, which are easily interpreted, evaluated and assessed, in making quality judgments. Following this idea, quality can be evaluated through the image it transmits to consumers. The idea that national brands have better quality than store brands, is very present in customer's minds, and is very influenced by publicity and advertising that can help highlight this characteristic. For this motive, consumers feel more confident when choosing branded goods.

For Richardson et al. (1994), consumers don't choose private labels in situations where there's a high tendency to be guided by extrinsic cues in product evaluations. In this type of case, the correlation between quality and the acquisition of store brands will be negative.

According to various studies, the consumers have some doubts about buying private labels, when these are associated with low quality. Cunningham et al. (1982) and Richardson et al. (1994) believe private labels are, usually, perceived as being of inferior quality than national brands. Dick et al. (1995) shares the same idea, pointing out that these consumers tend to believe that products from store brands are produced with low quality ingredients and for that motive have lower nutritional value, justifying their reluctance and uncertainty towards private labels.

These quality flaws between both types of brand are, according to Hoch and Banerji (1993), dependent of the technology exigencies in the production of certain products, throughout the different categories. The authors verify that PLBs have a better performance in categories where the quality of the product is high and the variability is low.

In a more recent study, Cardoso and Alves (2008) refer that private label goods are, generally, well accepted by most inquired customers and that quality is one of the determinant factors when making a purchase decision. They also concluded that consumers tend to understand this quality in store brands, when they buy and consume them frequently, eventually understanding that there are no big differences between store brands and national brands.

Like I've said before, these aren't the only variables consumers use when making a purchase decision. Analyzing customer's decisions is far beyond this basic evaluation they make of a certain product. Besides focusing on the effects of different cues on consumer perception of private labels, it's crucial to pay attention to the interaction between cues and consumer characteristics.

2.2.1.5 Involvement with the product category

The personal involvement with a product is defined by Zaichkowsky (1985) as the perceived relevance the individual gives to the object based on his interests, needs and values. Different individuals don't have to necessarily show the same level of involvement with a product.

The process of making a purchase decision is, significantly, influenced by the degree of the consumer's involvement with the product category. The theory about involvement refers that, depending on the level of involvement, the intensity of the search for information, the evaluation of alternatives, the decision to make the purchase and the post-purchase behavior will be different. So, the higher the involvement of the consumer, the more information he will search for and the various alternatives available will be compared before making the purchase decision.

Zaichkowsky (1985), Kapferer and Thoening (1991), Richardson (1997) and Baltas and Doyle (1998) suggest that the personal involvement with the product can help explain some of the reasons why customers buy private labels and, also, why they only do it in some product categories.

The theory suggests that private labels are better accepted by consumers in products that are considered to be of low involvement. With the concept of low involvement we're talking about products with low monetary value, with weak differentiation when compared with the other available alternatives, subject of little innovation and are generally purchased with frequency. So, consumers perceive their purchase as being low risk (Howard, 1993; Dick et al., 1995).

The consumers will show a smaller propensity to purchase private labels in products that are considered to be high involvement. To sum up, this theory refers to the existence of a negative relation between the level of personal involvement with the product and the consumer's propensity to purchase store brands.

It is also fundamental to relate the product category involvement with the risks that each product category carries. Many researchers consider that the variables related with the product category involvement, concern the determinants of the degree of risk perceived by consumers in a particular product category. For a long time researchers have stated the importance of perceived risk in a product category as a fundamental factor in PLB purchases (Richardson, Jain and Dick, 1996).

In order to measure this variable, I've selected five sub-variables:

> Perceptional consequences of making a bad mistake

Laurent and Kapferer give their insight on this variable in their literature on "product category involvement. Other studies on the "degree of inconvenience of making a mistake" state similar conclusions (Narasimhan and Wilconx, 1998; Dunn, Murphy and Skelly, 1986). The consequences of making a bad choice are directly linked with the consumer's perception of risk and the importance they give to a certain product category.

The purchases of certain product categories such as baby foods should be seen as more risky than the purchase of others, such as most toiletries and groceries. The consequences of making a mistake in baby food products are far more severe. This means that the consumer's course of action is premeditated and our evaluations will influence the final outcome of the purchase decision.

In addition, purchases that expose the consumer to social ridicule, such as reference or peer groups, can also be seen has high risk even if they are low monetary value (certain types of clothing, or publicly consumed beverages). Livesey and Lennon (1978) argue that social risk inhibits the selection of private label brands. For example, they found

that the typical English consumer serves national branded tea to their guests, while consuming less expensive store brand tea themselves.

Probability of making a bad choice

The other half of the "consequences of making a mistake" notion deals not with the actual consequences of making the mistake, but rather with the probability of doing it. The expected value of any decision is the product of its consequences times its likelihood (Dunn, Murphy and Skelly, 1986). This suggests that it's important to understand the degree of variability of the quality in a certain category. This is different from the perceived PLB quality level, as it is the variability that should create greater uncertainty and doubt and create more perceived risk.

Narasimhan and Wilcox (1998) have argued that the degree of perceived risk increases with the degree of perceived quality variation across brands in that category. Hoch and Banerji (1993) support this theory, as they found that store brands have a lower share in categories where the quality variability between products is high.

For Richardson, Jain and Dick (1996), the perceived quality variation leads to a reduced perceived value-for-money of private labels both directly and via perceived risk. This eventually led to reduced private label brand proneness.

Symbolic aspect (social consciousness)

The symbolic aspect of the brand is the associations that the consumer makes of the brand, or with a certain social status, personal tastes, lifestyle, etc. One of the first authors to talk on this topic was Levy (1959), he believed that the consumer isn't only influenced by the functional attributes of the product. His behavior is, clearly, affected by symbols that identify the products, which are then associated to personal and social meanings, along with functional attributes. This way, the consumers purchase their products not only for their function, but also for what they represent.

According to Aaker (1992), the associations to a brand correspond to something that creates a link between consumer and brand. These can be situations of use of the

product, a combination of characteristics or attributes of the product or even the sensations a product or a brand can provoke on the consumer. In the case of the store brands this rarely happens, since these brands have few or no type of publicity that can incite the customer. This way, the adoption of private labels tends to be low.

Hedonic value

To a product we associate with a utility value or a hedonic value, taking into account the strategic objectives of the brand. Chitturi et al. (2008), as well as other authors, use the term "hedonic benefit" when referring to the aesthetic side of the product, the practical part and the emotional potential it transmits. Ailawadi et al. (2001) refers that this variable is linked with the intangible, experiential and affective attributes.

According to Richins (1994), while some products are consumed for their utility (utility benefits), others are consumed for their capacity to give pleasure (hedonic benefits). With this consumers can attribute high risk to the performance of private labels, in hedonic product categories because they fear that these brands might not give the emotional benefits they desire.

As a result, consumers can pay a higher price for national brands in categories that give high quantities of pleasure when consumed. In this sense, the national brands can maintain their price-premium strategy in categories where the products are purchased with hedonistic purposes and can try to increase the hedonistic value of their brands through emotional communication/advertising.

Consumers use the brand to satisfy their emotional needs and publicity helps to highlight the benefits that the product can bring, rather than its characteristics. However, it's easier to show the pleasure of consumption in some products, like cookies, than other products that are strictly functional, like toilet paper or detergents (Sethuraman and Cole, 1999).

There are various characteristics of the shopping behavior that can help the understanding of the purchase decisions of private labels. Ailawadi et al. (2001) identifies these characteristics as "hedonic benefits": the pleasure of buying; innovation;

the search for variety; impulsivity; the high involvement and knowledge; and the motivation to resign.

> Interest

The literature on this interest variable is similar to what was previously said for the hedonic value. People don't only buy products for their utility benefits. There are other characteristics that are taken into consideration when making a purchase decision. The interest in a certain product or category can attribute high risk to the performance of private labels, as consumers pay more attention to details and have more knowledge on the topic.

As a result, consumers are willing to pay higher prices for national brands in these categories. This happens because consumers give a lot of importance to these products and want to have their expectations met.

2.2.1.6 Brand Loyalty (loyalty to national brands)

Loyalty to a brand is the intrinsic commitment to make repeated purchases of a certain brand (Peter and Olson, 2002). In other words, brand loyalty is the degree to which a client has a positive attitude towards a brand, showing commitment and that he wants to continue buying it in the future. It's a bond created between consumer and brand, which is translated in the repeat purchase of the product, throughout a certain period of time.

It is possible to classify consumers in three distinct categories according to their level of loyalty and commitment to brands. Some consumers are totally to a brand, in other words, they always buy the same brand. Other consumers show loyalty to two or three brands in the same product category. The last type of customer is those who don't show loyalty to any brand. According to Kotler and Armstrong (2001), this last group of individuals always wants something different each time they make a purchase or purchase a brand that's on sale.

Most studies narrow the classification of consumers according to brand loyalty into two, loyal and not loyal, considering the intermediate category in the segment for loyal

customers. Brand loyal consumers display a stronger tendency to purchase the same brands they have always bought and, compared to those who are more likely to seek variety, are less likely to switch to new and unfamiliar brands. In other words, consumers who define themselves as loyal to a specific brand are less keen on choosing a different brand, than the one they are familiarized with.

According to Garretson et al. (2002), consumers who are loyal to brands present a strong tendency to buy the same brands they've always bought and, so, it's less likely they will make a change to a new or unknown brand. Burton et al. (198) also verified that the attitude towards private labels is negatively related to the consumer's propensity to being loyal to a brand in the different product categories.

In the same direction goes Ailawadi et al. (2001), who refer that customers who are loyal to national brands show a smaller tendency to adopt store brands, since the costs of changing are very high. However, in their study this variable didn't show great significance in the explanation of the consumer's consumption of private labels.

In the case of consumers who aren't loyal to a certain brand, it's relevant to say that Burger and Schott (1972) believe that buyers of store brands are not loyal to manufacturer brands. While Baltas (1997) defends that a buyer of private labels is a "switcher" by nature and isn't a loyal customer of a specific brand. This concept of "brand switcher" is based on the idea that some consumers are more likely to change brand due to the fact that they seek variety.

The customers looking for variety, according to Kotler and Armstrong (2001), always want something different each time they make a purchase, frequently going for the brands that have products on sale. This is an opportunity for store brands because, with less loyalty to national brands, consumers tend to opt for store brands.

This desire of seeking variety and looking for new options comes, generally, from the rising concern consumers have with the transactional utility associated with product purchases rather than with the benefits associated with the repetitive purchase of any particular brand. For Cardoso and Alves (2008), consumers are starting to understand

more and more about the qualities of private labels, although, they remain faithful to some of the national brands.

To sum up, according to the authors the consumer's position towards private labels is negatively related with the consumer's loyalty to brands throughout the different product categories.

2.2.1.7 Product signatureness

The concept of product signatureness refers to the degree to which a product category is associated with a store in consumers' minds (Bao et al., 2010; Inman et al., 2004). For example, an over-the- counter analgesic is more a signature product for a retail pharmacy than a consumer staple like milk. This is an external cue commonly associated to another variable, the store image, which is also frequently used in studies on consumer's quality evaluation of private labels.

While the signatureness refers to a product category, the store image defines the global impression of a retail store. But, it's important to keep them close together as they can be related. If a store has a low image, the difference between the high and low signatureness level of the different product categories is enlarged. Conversly, if the store image increases, the effect of product signatureness on perceived quality of private labels shrinks.

One of the main ideas behind the selection of this variable is the fact that this is one of the only extrinsic cues that isn't limited by the marketing functions. Most of these external cues are either not specific to a retailer, or susceptible to change, or harmful to the competitive advantages of private labels. For example, the cues of manufacturing difficulty and quality variance of a product category are independent of store characteristics.

In addition, except for brand name, the marketing mix cues (i.e. price, advertising, and package design) can be easily changed. The non-specificity of a cue makes it difficult to differentiate private labels, while the versatile nature of a cue may generate unstable quality perception and render the signal less diagnostic (Purohit and Srivastava, 2001).

The product signatureness cue, like the store image, overcomes these limitations, because it's not specific to a store or a retail channel, remains stable over time, and isn't directly built on the marketing mix. Therefore, facilitating market differentiation of private labels, producing a stable diagnostic signal, and serve to maintain the competitiveness of private labels.

There's another reason that was important for the selection of this variable. In real decision environment, multiple cues interact to influence consumer brand evaluation (Purohit and Srivastava, 2001). According to Purohit and Srivastava's (2001) product signatureness can be classified as an intransient cue. These types of cue contrast with the transient cues, because they're more diagnostic of product quality and diagnostic cues are more likely to be used in evaluation of product quality (Purohit and Srivastava, 2001; Dick et al., 1990).

The fact that a signature product epitomizes a retailer's service and expertise is representative of the product quality associated with the store and the general store image. Thus, when a private label is introduced into a signature category of a store, it should receive a high quality perception from consumers (Bao et al., 2010).

2.2.2 Demographic and Socio-economic Factors

2.2.2.1 Gender

There have been previous studies where some conclusions were drawn about this variable. For example, Ailawadi (2001) and Omar (1996) concluded that women are more prone than men to purchase store brands when selecting their shopping items. However, Burton et al. (1998) believes that the gender effect has no significant impact on the process of purchasing store brands.

2.2.2.2 Age

According to Cole and Balsubramanian (1993), the loyalty to a brand increases as the customers age also increases. With this said, the younger customers are more keen on

opting for private labels, due to the fact that their preferences are still not totally defined.

On the other hand, Szymanski and Busch (1998) verified with their studies that age has a small and negative influence in the customers' propensity to purchase store brands. Burton (1998) shares the same opinion; he believes that the attitude towards private labels isn't significantly influenced by the age variable.

Dick et al. (1995) and Omar (1996) have shown that older consumers tend to avoid private labels, while the younger individuals tend to frequently buy these brands. Omar (1996) also says that older individuals (45 years old or higher) tend to be more loyal to national brands.

An opposite conclusion was made by Richardson et al. (1996). This author refers that the older the age of the consumer, the higher is the probability of him purchasing store brands. In this sense, consumers with a higher age can use their shopping experience to evaluate the brands and consider store brands as a good alternative to national brands, in different product categories.

Sethuraman and Cole (1999) argue that the younger consumers are more image-oriented and are less familiarized with the private labels, than older consumers. So, younger customers might be more available to pay higher prices for national brands.

2.2.2.3 Occupation/Profession

The professional life of the consumers can, also, have some impact on the adoption of private labels. However, the study of this variable hasn't been developed. The search for conclusions on this variable lead us to Omar's study (1996), where he believes that consumers of national brands have a professional activity that requires high academic qualifications, while consumers of store brands exercise professional activities that require less education. For Myers (1967), housewives are more susceptible to choose to buy private labels, than other women with a professional activity.

The size of the household is one of the demographic variables that has been most associated with the consumption of private label goods. Most studies come to the understanding that there is a positive relation between this variable and the adoption of store brands.

Frank and Boyd (1965) believe there's a positive association between family size and the use of private label products. More recently, in the studies of Dick et al. (1995), the household size has showed to be an important variable in the determination of the brands consumed in the household. According to the authors, families with 5 or more people have a higher chance of purchasing private labels, while families with a smaller dimension tend to purchase branded products. Omar (1996) refers that the typical customer of store brands lives with at least one or two children.

Richardson et al. (1996) also found a positive relation between family size and the proneness to buying store brands. Their results concluded that bigger families have a higher propensity to opt for private labels, since these brands have lower prices and in these conditions the financial resources have to be divided by more people. Hoch (1996) shares the same opinion, referring that families with more people are more sensitive to price and more prone to buying private labels.

2.2.2.5 Qualifications

The degree of qualifications of the customers is another of the variables very associated with the purchase of private labels. However, the studies done on this matter have presented different conclusions over time. According to Omar (1996), the buyer of store brands has a lower level of education than the usual customer of national brands.

For Richardson et al. (1996) the results weren't conclusive. The authors refer that the relation between the level of education and the propensity to adopting private labels isn't obvious. On one hand, the authors believe that the higher the level of instruction of the individuals the higher their income is, so they will have more freedom to make their

choices since there is less of a financial restriction. It's expected there will be a negative relation between these two variables.

On the other hand, the same authors believe that the individuals with higher qualifications have more ability than the less instructed individuals to evaluate the differences between store brands and national brands. In this case, it's expected there will be a positive relation between the two variables.

Other investigators have a more clear idea and believe that there's a positive relation between the degree of qualifications and the adoption of private labels. Hoch (1996) concludes that there is a significant percentage of private label purchases being made by highly educated individuals. These consumers are, generally, less influenced by price and are better informed about product information and the quality associated with store brands.

Dawar and Parker (1994) refer that consumers with higher qualifications tend to use less external cues, such as the brands, in their purchase decisions. For Burton et al. (1998) these individuals have a positive attitude towards store brands and tend to buy a higher percentage of these products.

To conclude we can say that, although the results aren't conclusive, there's a bigger number of investigators tending to the idea that there is a positive relation between the level of education and the predisposition to purchasing store brands.

2.2.2.6 Marital Status

There hasn't been a lot of investigation and studying on the influence of this demographic variable on the decision to purchase private labels. According to Dick et al. (1995), the social status variable has some influence in this decision. The author states that the married consumers are more prone to opt for store brands than single, divorced or widowers.

2.2.2.7 Monthly Income of the Household

The selection of a product is influenced by the economic situation of the customers, in other words, the available income, wealth and the access to credit. For example, in a situation of economic recession, the available income decreases making the consumers more price sensitive and tend to choose cheaper products. But the main conclusion, according to most of the present literature, is that there's a negative relation between the income of the household and the selection of store brands.

Frank and Boyd (1965) refer that the adoption of a private label is negatively related with the income of a person. More recently, Richardson et al. (1996) and Burton et al. (1998) came to similar conclusions. For Richardson et al. (1996) wealthier families have a smaller tendency to buy private labels, while Burton et al. (1998) refer that individuals with higher income have a less positive attitude towards the private labels.

Dick et al. (1995) found a curvilinear relation between the two variables. Families with incomes lower than \$15.000 or higher than \$49.000 are less prone to buying store brands than families with middle class incomes. In the case of the households with higher incomes, there's no doubt that they have the resources to make their own choices and buying national brands, which are usually more expensive. In the case of the consumers who have less economic resources their aversion to store brands can be, according to Dick et al. (1995), the limited knowledge they have in terms of brand choice.

For Hoch and Banerji (1993), the market share of private labels is made of cycles. In times of economic recession, when the income of families decreases, the sales of store brands increase, decreasing the sales of national brands. In periods of economic expansion the opposite occurs, in other words, the sales of national brands increase and the sales of store brands decrease. Cotterill et al. (2000) share a similar perspective, concluding that there's a negative relation between the income and the market share of store brands and a positive relation between the income and the share of market of the national brands.

Another author, Hoch (1996), also agrees with the idea that the two variables are negatively related. He believes in this relation due to the fact that higher incomes allow a smaller financial restriction and a lower sensitivity to price, giving the consumer a bigger freedom to select more expensive products (Ailawadi et al., 2001). With this said, Hoch (1996) agrees to the possibility that purchasing private label products will also decrease.

3. Methodology

3.1 FMCG Sector profile in Portugal

Over the last few years, private labels have gained a lot of importance in the Portuguese FMCG market. Every year we see national brands struggling to keep their market shares, and increasing their battle with the very competitive store brands. The general public has changed their mindset, turning their opinion towards private labels around. Currently, the general consumer of FMCG has a favorable opinion towards private labels and has started to include these brands in their household shopping.

Initially consumers feared the low quality associated with the low prices practiced by store brands, and opted to stick with what they know favoring national brands. But, as time went by private labels stayed in the market and consumers were able to get more information and experience these products. With that they were able to realize that these products constitute a good opportunity, due to the fact that they present a very good balance between price and quality. Since then, these products have registered a growth in sales volume and have become a competitive element for the other brands.

In Portugal, private labels have been increasing their market share, reaching market shares of over 40% in some product categories (ACNielsen, 2010). However, there are other product categories where the share is less than 5% (ACNielsen, 2010). In fact, the market share of the private labels varies a lot throughout the different product categories.

3.2 Yoghurt sector profile in Portugal

Due to the fact I mentioned before, I chose to focus on a specific sector, the yoghurt sector. This is a sector that, in Portugal, is known for having very strong private labels. Looking at the market in general, not focusing on the specific types of yoghurt, we can see that according to ACNielsen (2010) store brands represent 40% of the market in value and 48% in volume. While the top 3 national brands (Nestlé, Danone and Lactogal) together represent 54% of the market in value and 45% in volume. These

numbers show how much importance private labels have in this market and how comfortable consumers are buying them.

3.3 Research objectives

This study focuses on analyzing the determinants that lead to the choice of private labels, in other words, the study of the factors that have led the way for private labels to grow exponentially and solidify their position on the FMCG market, over the last few years. The importance of understanding the way the market works and the motives behind the decision to purchase store brands, implies knowing the consumers and the variables that interfere with their shopping habits.

With this said, it's important to analyze the impact store brands have on consumers today, focusing on the consumer's perception of the product they buy, their shopping behavior and other socio-demographic aspects. Following this idea the research focuses on understanding the consumer's perceptions and attitudes towards private labels. This means analyzing the degree of relation between each of the determinants and the consumer behavior, and trying to understand the differences between choosing a store brand or a national brand.

For the purpose of this study I chose to focus on a specific product category, due to the fact that there are big variations throughout the different product categories in the FMCG industry. I opted for the yoghurt industry because it's one of the industries where the store brands have most succeeded. The main reason behind the selection of this category, where the private labels play a dominant role, is the idea of having an industry that can be representative of this massive growth store brands have had a throughout the FMCG market.

Based on the literature review, a research hypotheses model was defined, as shown in figure 2. The first column of the bigger box shows the independent variables defined for the purpose of this study, and the second column of this box shows the type of relation the independent variables have with the dependent variable (i.e., the expected sign for the relationship). The smaller box represents the dependent variable, selection of private label brands, which is defined by questions Q7 and Q8.



Figure 2 – Research Hypotheses Model

3.4 Data collection methods

The present study combines both qualitative and quantitative data collection methods.

3.4.1 Focus group – Qualitative research

In the qualitative stage of the search, a focus group was conducted. A focus group is an interview conducted in a non structured and natural manner with a small group of respondents, where the moderator leads the discussion. The main purpose of a focus group is to gain insight by listening to a group of people from the appropriate target market talk about issues of interest to the researcher (Malhotra, 2007).

Before distributing the questionnaire it was essential to get some insight from other people, in order to see if anything was wrong with the final version of the questionnaire. This was an important stage in the preparation of the surveys because it allowed me to get an outside opinion of what I had been preparing. With this I was able to understand what could be improved and changed, if the linguistic used was easy to comprehend and if the questions made sense to someone who was reading the questionnaire for the first time.

In order to have a focus group that could be representative of the target population, I chose to have a total of 9 people, with at least one person per age group (according to what had been defined in the questionnaire): 18 - 25; 26 - 35; 36 - 50; 50 - 64; >= 65.

The participants were carefully chosen in order to meet certain criteria previously defined. They all had frequent experiences with FMCG, specifically yoghurts, and were first time participants in a focus group. This second criteria was defined because, according to Malhotra (2007), people who have already participated in numerous focus groups should not be included. These are atypical respondents and their participation can cause validity problems.

The selection of my house as the location for the focus group was, also, an intentional and important decision. A relaxed and informal atmosphere encourages spontaneous comments. The focus group lasted for about 1.5 hours. It started with a 15 minute time period, where all participants were asked to, individually answer the questionnaire. After these 15 minutes, the moderator (me) asked each participant to give their feedback on what they thought of the survey. Orally each of the participants had about 5 minutes to give their opinion. From then on, the moderator led a group discussion on the improvements that should be made.

The outcome from this focus group was essential for the next stages of this study, especially for the questionnaire. The insight given by the participants of the focus group, led to a better constructed questionnaire suited for an average person to understand.

3.4.2 Questionnaire – Quantitative research

For the quantitative part of the research a survey questionnaire was conducted. The survey method for obtaining information is based on the questioning of respondents. Respondents are asked a variety of questions regarding their behavior, intentions, attitudes, awareness, motivations, and demographic and lifestyle characteristics (Malhotra, 2007). For this study a structured-direct survey was elaborated, which involved the distribution of a questionnaire. A typical questionnaire is constructed, mostly, from fixed-alternative questions that require the respondents to select from a predetermined set of answers.

The selection of this approach was based on the many advantages the survey method offers. First, the questionnaire is simple to administer. Second, the data obtained is

reliable because the responses are limited to the alternatives we previously chose. The use of fix-response questions reduces the variability in the results. Finally, coding, analysis, and interpretation of data are relatively simple.

3.4.2.1 Macro-structure of the questionnaire

The questionnaire starts with a brief introductory note that helps the respondents contextualize and understand the purpose and the relevance of their answers. This note also alerts for the fact that all questions are mandatory, although, there's no order of response for questions in the same page.

The first part of the questionnaire presents 8 questions regarding the shopping behavior of the respondents and their household. These questions have to do with behavioral factors, focusing on general shopping behavior and shopping behavior in the yoghurt category. This group of questions is used, mostly, as a way of understanding the relevance of the next answers of the individuals. In other words, it's a way of filtering who is relevant for the purpose of this study.

The second and third parts refer to more specific topics, and deal with the central issues of this study. In the second part all 23 questions have to do, mostly, with yoghurts and the conflict between national and store brands. This is done by measuring individual factors within this specific category. The third part (20 questions) still has to do with the conflict of national and store brands, but doesn't focus as much on the product category of yoghurts. It's a more general evaluation of the individual factors that are put into consideration, when making a purchase decision.

The final part of the questionnaire is composed by a group of 7 questions with the objective of evaluating the demographic and socio-economic factors. These questions help to understand who is answering the questionnaire and the sample profile.

3.4.2.2 Micro-structure of the questionnaire

The questionnaire is divided in 17 questions, which are divided into 4 pages. The first page has to do with questions regarding shopping behavior of the respondents and their

household. The first two questions (Q1 and Q2) have to do with general shopping behavior, regarding if the respondent is a regular shopper of FMCG and where his household usually shops for FMCG. Questions Q3 and Q4 have to do more with shopping habits in the yogurt category, asking the respondents to answer if they frequently buy or interfere in the process of selecting yogurts for the supply of their household. The next two questions, Q5 and Q6, had to do with the yogurts the respondents usually have in their household. These questions focused on the number of times the household shops for yogurts and the number of types of yogurt in the household. Finally, Q7 and Q8 asked the respondents for the distribution of the shopping for yogurts, in terms of store brands and national brands.

The second page (Q9) had to do with the respondents experience as a buyer and consumer of yogurts. In this part, the respondents had to show their level of agreement with the affirmations presented based on a scale, with 1 meaning "entirely disagree" and 5 meaning "entirely agree". The main objective of this part of the questionnaire was analyzing the level of relation between each variable and the selection of private label brands.

VARIABLES	SCALES/QUESTIONS	SOURCE		
Perceptional consequences of making a bad choice (PCMBC)	There are no real consequences if I buy the wrong brand of yogurts. It's very unpleasant to buy a bad type of yogurt. I would be very upset if after I bought a type of yogurts, I came to find out they had low quality.			
Probability of making a bad purchase (PMBP)	When I buy a brand of yogurts, I never know which one to choose. When I'm in front of a supermarket shelf of yogurts, I have a hard time making a decision. Choosing a brand of yogurts is very complicated. When I buy yogurts I never know if I've made the right choice.			
Social Consciousness - symbolic aspect (SC) You get to know a lot about a person through the yogurts they buy. The brand of yogurts I buy says a lot about the type of person I am.				
Hedonic Value (HV) I get pleasure from buying yogurts. Buying yogurts is like buying a present for me. vogurts are something that gives me pleasure.				
Interest (I) yogurts are something I give a lot of importance to. I have great interest in yogurts. Yogurts are something that is indifferent to me.				
Brand Loyalty (BL)	Yogurts are something that is indifferent to me. Brand Loyalty (BL) I have a favorite of brand of yogurts. Normally, I worry a lot about the brand of yogurts I buy.			

Table 1 – Individual Factors (private labels of yoghurts)

	I'm willing to make an effort to look for my favorite brand of yogurts.	
	I would expect hyper and supermarket to sell a brand of yogurts.	
Product Signatureness (PS)	Hyper and supermarkets and yogurts appear to fit together really well. In my perception, yogurts are one of the products that are closely associated with hyper and supermarket.	
	Whenever I want to buy yogurts, hyper and supermarkets are one of the types of store I will think of.	

The third page (Q10) had a similar objective than the one before. It asked the respondents to show their level of agreements to the affirmations presented, based on their experience as a buyer and consumer of FMCG. The scale used was the same as before, with 1 meaning "entirely disagree" and 5 meaning "entirely agree". Once again, the main objective with this was analyzing the level of relation between each variable and the selection of private labels.

VARIABLES	SCALES/QUESTIONS				
	Generally, the higher the price of a product, the higher the quality of it.				
Price	The money I save looking for low prices doesn't compensate the time and effort spent.	Burton et al. (1998)			
Consciousness	I'm not willing to make extra efforts to find lower prices.				
(rC)	I shop in more than one store to take advantage of low prices.				
	I never shop in more than one store with the objective of finding lower prices.				
	I normally look for products with lower prices, but only buy them if they meet the quality requirements.				
	When I shop for groceries, I compare prices of different brands to be sure I make the most of my money.				
Value Consciousness	When I buy a product, I like to be sure that the money is well spent.	Burton et			
(VC)	I always confirm the prices of products to be sure I make the best possible purchase.				
	When I buy a product, I try to always maximize the quality obtained from the money spent.				
	I worry a lot about paying low prices, but I equally worry about product quality.				
Price/Ouality	The saying "you get what you pay" is normally true.				
Perception	The price of a product is a good indicator of its quality.	al. (1998)			
(rQr)	We always pay a bit more for the best.				
	In most product categories, the best purchase is always store brands.				
	Taking into consideration the value of money, I prefer store brands to national brands.	Burton et			
Perception of Private Labels	Buying private labels makes me feel good.				
(PPL)	When I buy private label products, I always feel like I'm making a good deal.				
	Generally, private label products are low quality.				
	I get happy when I find private labels available in the product categories I usually buy.				

 Table 2 – Individual Factors (private labels in general)

The last part of the questionnaire has 7 questions with the objective of evaluating the demographic and socio-economic factors. These questions helped to determine the sample profile. They were used to measure 7 different characteristics: sex (Q11), age

(Q12), occupation/profession (Q13), number of people in the household (Q14), qualifications (Q15), social status (Q16) and monthly income of the household (Q17).

3.4.2.3 Questionnaire distribution

The questionnaire was administered in 2 different forms. The first one was electronic interviews administered on the internet. Respondents were recruited to answer the questionnaire through social media, e-mail and online forums. In the recruiting stage, the respondents were asked to go to a particular web location to complete the survey.

This online format was used to speed up the process of colleting responses and gathering a diversified sample. Using the social networks and some online forums I was able to reach almost all age groups and social classes. Using friends and family as a sharing tool in the social media allowed me to reach a more diversified sample. The online forums were used, mostly, as a form of reaching target population I was having trouble finding through the social media.

Other advantages, like the possibility of customizing the questionnaire and the possibility of validating responses as they are entered show that internet research can be as representative and effective as traditional methods. Besides that, the additional stimuli, such as graphs, and the possibility of processing the data collected into a statistical package like SPSS, turn the online format into a very handy tool for the research.

The second form of distributing the questionnaire was personal interviewing through mall-intercept interview. This was used, mostly, to fulfill one of the main issues I had during this stage of collecting data. I had a hard time reaching the over 65 year-old community, through the online format. To get a representative sample of this age group I went to some local supermarkets and handed out questionnaires on paper. The data collected was then put in an online format for the purpose of this study.

The questionnaires were distributed and answered between December of 2012 and February of 2013.

3.5 Sample design

The main objective of this research is to understand the main reasons behind the consumer's choice in favor of private labels. The information required for this study had to come from people who regularly contact with FMCG in their household, specifically yoghurts. This includes people who shop, consume or interfere in any stage of the decision making process. So, the target population for this study was anyone over 18, who fit the characteristics mentioned above. The minimum size of the sample was defined as 200 (Malhotra, 2007).

3.6 Statistical methods

The elaboration of the questionnaire was based on the review of the literature on the topic. The consequent distribution and responses to the questionnaire gave the tools necessary to conduct this study. In order to analyze the data collected, the software used was SPSS, a program of statistical analysis.

Different analyses were used in order to reach the objectives. In order to understand and select the best items to include in this study, exploratory factor analysis was performed. To analyze the main variables consumers take into consideration when buying store brands, multiple regression analysis was performed.

4. Analysis

4.1 Sample Description

4.1.1 Socio-demographic description

From the 305 respondents analyzed, we can see that in terms of gender, 209 respondents (68.5%) were female and 96 (31.5%) were male. The age groups were quite even in the 3 younger categories – 18 to 25, 26 to 35 and 36 to 50 – with 72 (23.6%), 74 (24.3%) and 81 (26.6%) respondents, respectively. The 51 to 64 group represents 15.7% of the total sample (48 respondents), while the people over 65 represent 9.8% (30 respondents). Looking at the sample in terms of occupation we see that the 17.7% of the people inquired are seniors, 17% are students and 16.4% perform functions of middle management. The retired/pensioners/unemployed represent 15.4% of the sample, with 47 respondents. the 305 respondents. 43 From (14.1%)are liberal professionals/entrepreneurs, 39 (12.8%) are service/business/administrative employees and 20 (6.6%) are domestic/housewives.

In terms of number of people in the household, the majority of the population inquired answered 3 or 4 people (51.1%), with a total of 156 answers. These households were followed up by the respondents who live in a household of 2 people (28.9%) with a total of 88 responses. The households composed of 5 or more people had a total of 38 respondents (12.5%), while the households with only 1 person represented 7.5% of the total sample (23 responses). Looking at the population considered in this study in terms of qualifications, we can see that most people have a bachelor's degree (50.8%), with a total of 155 respondents. The answers $10^{\text{th}}-12^{\text{th}}$ grade and post-graduation/master represent, respectively, 20.3% (62 responses) and 19% (58 responses) of the total sample. These two categories are then followed by the professional course with 17 answers (5.6%), the 9th grade with 9 answers (3%) and PhD with 4 answers (1.3%).

As for the composition of the sample, in terms of social status, we can see that most of the respondents are married with a total of 172 answers (56.4%). The number of single people represents 32.1% of the total population in study (98 responses), while the number of divorced/widowers represents 11.5% with 35 responses. Looking at the

monthly income of the household, we can see that the category with most respondents is the $\notin 1500$ to $\notin 2499$ with 27.5% (84 answers) of the total sample. This category is followed by the $\notin 1000$ to $\notin 1499$ (22%) and the $\notin 2500$ to $\notin 4999$ (21%) with 67 and 64 respondents, respectively. Households with monthly incomes of $\notin 500$ to $\notin 999$ represented 14.1% of the total answers (43 responses), while the $\notin 5000$ or over represented 11.5% (35 responses) and the under $\notin 500$ represented 3.9%, with 12 responses.

		Count	Column N %
Gender	Male	96	31,5%
	Female	209	68,5%
Age Group	18 – 25	72	23,6%
	26 – 35	74	24,3%
	36 - 50	81	26,6%
	51 – 64	48	15,7%
	>=65	30	9,8%
Occupation /	Senior	54	17,7%
Profession	Middle Management	50	16,4%
	Employee Services /Business / Administrative	39	12,8%
	Retired / Pensioner / Unemployed	47	15,4%
	Students	52	17,0%
	Domestic	20	6,6%
	Professional / Entrepreneurs	43	14,1%
Number of	1	23	7,5%
household	2	88	28,9%
	3 or 4	156	51,1%
	>=5	38	12,5%
Qualifications	9 th Grade	9	3,0%
	10 th -12 th Grade	62	20,3%
	Professional Course	17	5,6%
	Bachelor's Degree	155	50,8%
	Post-graduation/Master	58	19,0%
	PhD	4	1,3%
Marital Status	Single	98	32,1%
	Married	172	56,4%
	Divorced / Widower	35	11,5%
Monthly income of the	< 500€	12	3,9%
household	500€ to 999€	43	14,1%
	1000€ to 1499€	67	22,0%
	1500€ to 2499€	84	27,5%
	2500€ to 4999€	64	21,0%
	>= 5000€	35	11,5%

 Table 3 – Sample profile characteristics

The first aspect we have to look into when describing shopping behavior is the frequency of times the respondents go shopping. Looking at the 305 responses, 96.1% (293 respondents) answered that they were regular shoppers of FMCG for the supply of their household and only 12 respondents (3.9%) answered the contrary. In terms of where they go shopping, the three most common answers were: Continente, Pingo Doce and Lidl. The answers are shown in table 4 below.

Establishment	Number
Continente	231
El Corte Inglês	52
Feira Nova	4
Intermarché	29
Leclerc	10
Lidl	143
Minipreço	76
Modelo	27
Pingo Doce	187
Jumbo	96
Gourmet Stores	15
Markets/Fairs	37
Others	
Aldi	3
Grocery store/Mini market	5
Total	915

Table 4 – Distribution by shopping location

Looking more specifically into the yoghurt category, the respondents were first asked to answer a few questions about their shopping habits in this particular segment. When asked if they usually buy yoghurts for themselves or for their household, 289 respondents said yes (94.8%), while 16 answered no (5.2%). But, when they were asked if they usually interfere in the buying/selection of yoghurts for the supply of their household, 89.2% of the people inquired answered affirmatively (272 people) and 33 people answered negatively, representing 10.8% of the total responses.

They were then asked to answer questions regarding the yoghurts they have in their household. These were very important questions for the next steps of the analysis, due to the fact that they ask for answers to a key point in the definition of the target population. Like I have previously said, the information required for this study had to come from people who regularly contact with FMCG in their household, specifically yoghurts. So, whoever answered these questions (Q5 and Q6) negatively couldn't have the rest of their questionnaire analyzed, because the rest of their answers would be inconclusive and out of context for the purpose of this study.

With this said, for the ones who answered positively, the majority of the respondents (51.5%) said that in their household they usually shop once or twice a week for yoghurts. While 35.7% (109 respondents) shops for yoghurts twice a month, 9.5% (29 respondents) once a month and 3.3% (10 respondents) more than twice a week. In terms of the number of types of yoghurt they have in their household, the respondents answered mostly 2 (41.6%) or 3 (30.8%). The number of respondents that said they only had 1 type was 40 (13.1%), while the number of people who had 4 or more was 44 (14.4%).

		Count	Column N
Q1. Usually, are you the one who shops for you or your	Yes	293	96,1%
household for fast-moving consumer goods (FMCG), for the supply of your house (ex: groceries, personal hygiene, drinks, etc.)?	No	12	3,9%
Q3. Do you or your family usually buy yogurts?	Yes	289	94,8%
	No	16	5,2%
Q4. Do you usually interfere in the buying/selecting	Yes	272	89,2%
process of yogurts for your household?	No	33	10,8%
Q5. With what frequency do you usually shop for yogurts	More than twice a week	10	3,3%
in your household?	Once or twice a week	157	51,5%
	Twice a month	109	35,7%
	Once a month	29	9,5%
Q6. How many kinds of yogurt do you usually have in	1	40	13,1%
your house?	2	127	41,6%
	3	94	30,8%
	>=4	44	14,4%
Q7. Describe your shopping behavior, when buying store	Never	43	14,1%
brands of yogurts, where 1 is never and 5 is always.	Few times	55	18,0%
	Sometimes	93	30,5%
	Frequently	91	29,8%
	Always	23	7,5%

 Table 5 – Shopping behavior characteristics

The last two questions of this segment were about the distribution of the shopping for yoghurts, in terms of store brands and national brands. In terms of describing their shopping behavior when buying store brands of yoghurts, most of the people inquired answered sometimes (30.5%) or frequently (29.8%). These two answers were followed

by few times with 55 responses (18%), never with 43 responses (14.1%) and always with 23 responses (7.5%).

In terms of what percentage of yogurt shopping went to private labels, the respondents answered as shown in table 6 and graph 1. The mean percentage of private labels in yogurt shopping was 45.7%, with a 95% confidence interval between 42.22% and 49.19%. The median was 0.5, the variance 0.096 and the standard deviation was 0.30972. This percentage ranged from a maximum of 100% (all yogurts are from store brands) to 0% (all yogurts are from national brands).

Table 6 – Percentage of private labels in yogurt shopping

			Statistic	Std. Error
Percentage of private	Mean		,4570	,01773
labels in yogurt shopping	95% Confidence Interval	Lower Bound	,4222	
	for Mean	Upper Bound	,4919	
	5% Trimmed Mean		,4523	
	Median		,5000	
	Variance		,096	
	Std. Deviation		,30972	
	Minimum		00,	
	Maximum		1,00	
	Range		1,00	
	Interquartile Range		,50	
	Skewness		,057	,140
	Kurtosis		-1,078	,278

Graph 1 –Box plot for the percentage of private labels



Percentage of private labels in yogurt shopping

4.2 Exploratory factor analysis

In this study I used the principal component analysis, in order to identify the underlying structure of interrelationships amongst the various variables present in the analysis. The principal component analysis (PCA) is a statistical technique that linearly transforms an original set of variables into a substantially smaller set of uncorrelated variables that represents most of the information in the original set of variables. Its goal is to reduce the dimensionality of the original that set. A small set of uncorrelated variables is much easier to understand and use in further analysis than a larger set of highly correlated variables.

So, what I did was define sets of variables that were highly correlated – factors. These factors are then grouped together and assumed to represent dimensions – in the case of this study the main reasons that justify the selection of private labels, specifically in the yoghurt market. To justify the application of a factor analysis, there's the need to make an assumption that there is some underlying structure in the set of variables. The procedure used was the varimax, which is the most commonly used method for rotation. This is an orthogonal method of rotation that minimizes the number of variables with high loadings on a factor, thereby enhancing the interpretability of the factors (Malhotra, 2007). The main objective was to understand the main dimensions that contribute to the selection of store brands over national brands, and more specifically in the yoghurt industry.

The number of observations collected is in conformity with the desired ratio of 5 observations per variable (Hair et al., 2010). There are formal statistics available for testing the appropriateness of the factor model. Regarding the adequacy and global significance of the model, the Bartlett test of sphericity and the Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin were satisfied, as is shown in table 7.

The Bartlett's test of sphericity is used to test the null hypothesis that the variables are uncorrelated in the population. In other words, the population correlation matrix is an identity matrix, which means that all diagonal terms are 1 and all off-diagonal terms are 0. The test statistic for sphericity is based on a chi-square transformation of the determinant of the correlation matrix. Large values, like the ones presented in table 7, of the test statistic will favor the rejection of the null hypothesis. The Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) measure of sampling adequacy is an index used to examine the appropriateness of the factor analysis. High values (between 0.5 and 1.0), like the ones presented in table 7, indicate that factor analysis is an appropriate technique for analyzing the correlation matrix.

Construct	ltem	Loading	KMO	Bartlett's Test	Total Variance	e Explained	Cronbach's Alpha
	PCMBC1	0,437					
РСМВС	PCMBC2	0,898	0,537	226,239	1,806	60,186%	0,610
	PCMBC3	0,899					
	PMBP1	0,738					
	PMBP2	0,789				67 6 4 6 V	
РМБР	PMBP3	0,799	0,765	578,879	2,506	02,040%	0,798
	PMBP4	0,837	1				
	SC1	0,841					
SC	502	0,89	0,754	747,641	2,629	87,633%	0,929
	SC3	0,898	1				
	HV1	0,88					
HV	HV2	0,884	0,714	330,046	2,216	73,871%	0,823
	HV3	0,854	1				
	1	0,887					
1	12	0,865	0,707	339,203	2,222	74,050%	0,818
	13	0,829	1				
	BL1	0,802					0,797
BL	BL2	0,873	0,693	288,503	2,135	71,174%	
	BL3	0,854					
	PS1	0,736	0,651	249,104	2,164	54,111%	0,711
05	PS2	0,801					
~ ~	PS3	0,707					
	PS4	0,694					
	PC1	0,552		451,152	2,618	52,355%	0,769
	PC2	0,731					
PC	PC3	0,769	0,711				
	PC4	0,747					
	PC5	0,793					
	VC1	0,611		732,642	3,404	56,738%	
	VC2	0,795					0,840
vc	VC3	0,777	0.819				
	VC4	0,827					
	VC5	0,785					
	VC6	0,703					
	POP1	0,734	-				
PQP	PQP2	0,876	0,643	235,494	1,999	66,647%	0,746
	PQP3	0,833					
	PPL1	0,741	-				
	PPL2	0,759	-		3,133		
PPL	PPL3	0,764	0,832	562 217		52,214%	0.812
	PPL4	0,799					0,011
	PPL5	0,537					
	PPL6	0,706					

Table 7 – Exploratory factor analysis summary

A total of 11 exploratory factor analyses were performed. The following step was to do a visual analysis of the factor loadings, correlating the variable with the factor, and identifying the significant ones. In order to identify a factor as significant, the main criteria used was seeing if the factor loading was greater than 0.4 (Hair et al., 2010). Another way of identifying if a factor is significant is to see if the extracted factors account for at least 60% of the variance (Malhotra, 2007). The results of this factor analysis are shown in table 7.

After the analysis of the factors loadings, the next step was a consistency evaluation, using the Cronbach's alpha as a diagnostic measure for the reliability coefficient. In

other words, this measure was used to assess the consistency of the entire scale. The generally agreed upon lower limit for Cronbach's alpha is 70, although it can decrease to 60 in exploratory research (Hair et al., 2010). As seen in table 7, all dimensions have a Cronbach's alpha higher than 60 and, therefore, all meet the limit.

4.3 Regression analysis

4.3.1 Objectives of multiple regression

Like I have previously mentioned, the main objective of this study is to analyze the main factors that lead consumers to adopt private labels. In order to conduct this study, I chose to have two distinct models for this part of the analysis. Both of the models used followed a multiple regression analysis, which is a statistic technique used to analyze the relationship between a single dependent (criterion) and several independent (predictor) variables.

For the first regression model, Q7 is the dependent variable. This variable measured the shopping behavior of the respondents, when buying store brands of yogurts. This variable was measured in a Likert scale from 1, never, to 5, always. For the second model, I selected Q8 as the dependent variable. This variable also measured the shopping behavior of the respondents, when buying store brands of yogurts. The only difference is that this variable measured the percentage (%) of private labels bought for the yogurt category.

These two models are going to be predicted by the factors previously defined. The following 11 variables were included as independent variables:

PCMBC	Perceptional consequences of making a bad choice
PMBP	Probability of making a bad purchase
SC	Social consciousness
HV	Hedonic value
Ι	Interest
BL	Brand loyalty
PS	Product signatureness
PC	Price consciousness
VC	Value consciousness
PQP	Price/quality perception
PPL	Perception of private labels

Table 8 – Independent variables

4.3.2 Model 1 – dependent variable measured in a scale from 1 to 5 (never to always)

The assumptions for the multiple linear regression were analyzed and confirmed. Looking at the value of the R square (R^2), the model explains 41.2% of the total variance. Also, the model is deemed statistically significant with an F ratio of 18.673 and a significance level of 0.000. The collinearity statistics, tolerance and VIF, were also analyzed providing us a perspective on the impact of collinearity on the independent variables in the regression equation.

Looking at the results we see that from the 11 constructs initially tested, 6 were found to have statistically significant correlation with the dependent variable Q7. From these 6, 3 were found to have a positive relationship with the dependent variable (SC, VC and PPL), while the other 3 had a negative relation (BL, PC and PQP). All 6 factors are statistically significant at 1% level.

Looking into the values of the coefficients we can see the change in the dependent value each time the independent variable changes by one unit (Hair et al., 2010). In terms of the independent variables that have a positive relation with the dependent variable, we see that with a coefficient value (B) of 0.715, PPL is the factor that most influences the consumer's selection of private labels of yogurts. Following the PPL is VC and SC, with 0.265 and 0.159 respectively.

When we consider the variables with a negative relationship with Q7, we see that PC is the factor that most influences the consumer's selection o private labels of yogurts, with a coefficient value of -0.349. This variable is followed by PQP with -0.213 and BL with -0.158.

	Unstandardized Coefficients			
	В	Std. Error	t	
(Constant)	,880	,697	1,262	
PCMBC	,128	,086	1,485	
PMBP	,060	,072	,831	
SC	,159	,060	2,625	***
HV	,086	,068	1,258	
I	-,064	,121	-,531	
BL	-,158	,061	-2,569	***
PS	,021	,078	,270	
PC	-,349	,112	-3,125	***
VC	,265	,092	2,880	***
PQP	-,213	,075	-2,830	***
PPL	,715	,092	7,790	***
F	18,673			
R ²	0,412	~-		

Table 9 – Multiple regression model 1 summary

a. Dependent Variable: Q7

***significant at the 1% level, **5%, *10%

4.3.3 Model 2 – dependent variable measured in percentage (%)

Once again the assumptions for the multiple linear regression were analyzed and confirmed. Looking at the value of the R square (R^2), the model explains 33.4% of the total variance. Also, the model is deemed statistically significant with an F ratio of 13.343 and a significance level of 0.000. The collinearity statistics, tolerance and VIF, were also analyzed providing us a perspective on the impact of collinearity on the independent variables in the regression equation.

Analyzing the results we see some changes from model 1. From the 11 construct initially tested, once again 6 were found to have statistically significant correlation with the dependent variable Q8. The major change, from one model to the other, is the replacement of variable PQP for PCMBC. Looking into model 2, we see that 4 of the independent variables have a positive relation (PCMBC, SC, VC and PPL) with Q8, while only 2 have a negative relation (BL and PC). There are also changes on the levels

of statistical significance. While BL, PC and PPL remain significant at the 1% level, SC, VC and the new PCMBC are statistically significant at 5% level.

Looking into the values of the coefficients (B) of the independent variables that have a positive relation with the dependent variable, we see that PPL remains the factor that most influences consumer's selection of private labels of yogurts (B=0.155). This variable is then followed VC, PCMBC and SC, with 0.66, 0.52 and 0.35. All 3 factors have relatively similar coefficients this indicates that, although they're different by definition and nature, they have approximately the same influence on the dependent variable.

Taking into account the variables with a negative relation with Q8, we see that PC remains the most significant factor for the selection of store brands of yogurts (B=-0.88). The PC is then followed by the other negative factor, which is BL with -0.57.

	Unstandardized Coefficients			
	В	Std. Error	т	
(Constant)	,059	,198	,299	
PCMBC	,052	,025	2,105	**
PMBP	,014	,020	,704	
SC	,035	,017	2,013	**
HV	,020	,019	1,044	
1	-,025	,034	-,728	
BL	-,057	,017	-3,251	***
PS	-,017	,022	-,786	
PC	-,088	,032	-2,770	***
VC	,066	,026	2,522	**
PQP	-,033	,021	-1,562	
PPL	,155	,026	5,965	***
F	13,343			
R2	0.334			

Table 9 – Multiple regression model 1 summary

a. Dependent Variable: Q8

***significant at the 1% level, **5%, *10%

5. Discussion, conclusions, limitations and implications for future research

5.1 Discussion

The general public has, in fact, changed their opinion about private labels. With the consolidation of retailer brands in the market, consumers were able to get more information and experience the products. This led consumers into realizing that these products were a good option, as they combine quality with a very appealing price. Currently, the average Portuguese consumer of fast-moving consumer goods has a favorable opinion towards private labels and has included these brands in the regular shopping for the household.

Looking specifically at the yogurt market, represented in this study, we can see that according to ACNielsen (2010) store brands represent 40% of the market in value and 48% in volume. This importance is reinforced by the data collected for this study. When the 305 respondents were asked to give the percentage (%) of private labels bought for the yogurt category, the mean was around 45%. These numbers show how much importance store brands have in this market, almost half of the market share, and how comfortable consumers are buying them.

Analyzing the two regression models defined for the purpose of this study we see that, although there are some differences, most of the outcomes lead to similar conclusions. First of all, the perception of private labels is the factor that most positively influences the consumers when selecting store brands of yogurts. Like expected, and in accordance with the literature review, consumers with a positive perception of private labels appear to have a stronger tendency to adopt these brands.

The second construct that contributes most significantly to the model fit, in explaining the selection of private labels, is the price consciousness. This factor is the one that most negatively influences the dependent variable. This means that as the level of price consciousness decreases, so does the probability of selecting a private label product. Once again the literature review was confirmed. Throughout the studies previously analyzed, the price consciousness was always positively linked with the adoption of store brands.

The third statistically significant construct, which is common to both models, is the value consciousness. This factor has something in common with the previous two, PPL and PC, as it relates quality with price. It has a positive relationship with the dependent variable for both models, but different levels of significance. Having a positive relation with the selection of private labels, means that value conscious customers are more likely to adopt these brands than the rest of the customers. The relationship established in this study confirmed the review of the literature.

In the fourth construct with the most correlation with the dependent variable, is where the two models didn't meet their results. Looking at model 1, we see the price/quality perception as the fourth independent variable with most significance. It has a negative relation with the dependent variable meaning that consumers, who look at price as a quality indicator, will regard the average lower prices of private as less attractive. This was, also, the expected outcome of this relationship based on the previous research.

While looking at model 2, we can see that the fourth construct with the highest correlation coefficient is brand loyalty. This variable, just like the previous research showed, has a negative relation with the dependent variable. This means that consumers that are loyal to certain manufacturer brands show less will to purchase retailer brands. The brand loyalty factor is construct number five in model 1.

Once again looking into model 2, we can see that the perceptional consequences of making a bad choice is the fifth construct with highest correlation with the selection of private labels of yogurts. The PCMBC has a positive relationship with the dependent variable. Looking at the past research on the topic, we see that the expected was the opposite. The literature review shows that as the chance of risk rises, the probability of opting for a private label decreases.

We can counter argue the past research by looking at the rest of the study, and focusing on the specificity of the yogurt category in Portugal. From the data collected, we've seen that general Portuguese consumer of yogurts has a high level of commodity with the private labels in this segment and has included these brands in their regular shopping for the household. We can conclude, from this positive relation between the PCMBC and the dependent variable that the consumers trust and believe in store brands throughout this segment, to a point that they feel like they are not taking a risk when selecting these brands. Instead, they are very comfortable and secure when they adopt private labels.

The sixth, and last, construct with significant correlation with the dependent variable is the social consciousness (symbolic aspect). This independent variable has a positive relation with the selection of retailer's brands. Much like the PCMBC, the past research led to the expectation that these two variables would be negatively correlated. In other words, the worry about the symbolic aspect of a certain product has a negative effect on the adoption of private labels.

Once again, looking at this study and the reality of the Portuguese yogurt market we can find a counter argument. The consumption of store brand yogurts has become a regular habit amongst the Portuguese population. There is no shame or social risk in this practice. In fact it's a common practice that is socially accepted by everybody.

5.2 Conclusions

Looking at the aspects discussed above, we can see that consumers base their decisions on adopting a product on three different types of variables:

- Price related variables
- Quality related variables
- > Involvement with the product category related variables

The price related and the quality related variables (PPL, PC, VC and PQP) have the most influence on consumers when selecting store brands of yogurts. These types of variables are unlikely to vary throughout product categories, due to the fact that they have to do with individual perceptions and are indifferent to the product type.

The variables related with the involvement with the product category (BL, PCMBC and SC) have less influence in the explanation of the dependent variable in this study. I

believe that, although these variables were found to be less significant than the other two types, they could be important in a study that crosses different product categories.

5.3 Limitations and implications for future research

There were some limitations to this investigation that must be taken into account. One of the limitations relates to the fact that the vast majority of the surveys were answered online. This meant that people who couldn't access the internet were unable to answer the questionnaire. Another limitation is the fact that some of the variables are latent, which means that they're not directly observed.

Another disadvantage that can come from the internet is the fact that there is no way to prove that the answers are all true. The only option is to believe that all respondents answered according to the reality. Also, there might be a bias in the sample due to the fact that the questions in the questionnaire may lead to socially desirable answers. This bias is reduced by the fact that people on the internet give more accurate and true answers, than if the questionnaire was performed personally.

In my opinion, and after conducting this study, future research should focus on more than one product category when analyzing variables related with the product category involvement. In order to have a significant sample, representative of the private labels throughout the product categories in the FMCG industry, we need to consider product categories that have retailer brands with high and low market shares. This is due to the fact that involvement with the product category related variables vary from product to product, unlike the quality and price related variables presented in this study.

6. References

Aaker, David A. 1996. Building Strong Brands. New York: The Free Press.

Aggarwal, P., & Cha, T. 1998. Asymmetric price competition and store vs. national brand choice. *Journal of Product and Brand Management*. 7 (3): 244-253.

Ailawadi, K., Neslin, S., & Gedenk, K. 2001. Pursuing the value-conscious consumer: Store brands versus national brand promotions. *Journal of Marketing.* 65: 71-89.

Ailawadi, K., & Keller, K. 2004. Understanding retail branding: Conceptual insights and research priorities. *Journal of Retailing*. 80: 331-342.

Alford, B., & Biswas, A. 2002. The effects of discount level, price consciousness and sales proneness on consumers' price perception and behavioral intention. *Journal of Business Research*. 55 (9): 775-83.

Baltas, G. 1997. Determinants of store brands choice: A behavioral analysis. *Journal of Product & Brand Management.* 6 (5): 315-324.

Bao, Y., Bao, Y., & Sheng, S. 2010. Motivating purchase of private brands: effects of store image, product signatureness, and quality variation. *Journal of Business Research.* 64 (2): 220-6.

Batra, R., & Sinha, I. (2000). Consumer-level factors moderating the success of private label brands. *Journal of Retailing*. 76 (2): 175-191

Burger, P., & Schott, B. 1972. Can private brand buyers be identified?. *Journal of Marketing Research*. 9: 219-222.

Burton, S., Lichtenstein, D., Netemeyer, R., & Garretson, J. 1998. A scale for measuring attitude toward private label products and an examination of its psychological and behavioral correlates. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science.* 26 (4): 293-306.

Cardoso, A., & Alves, P. 2008. Atitude dos consumidores relativamente à marca dos distribuidores. *Revista da Faculdade de Ciências Humanas e Sociais – UFP.* 5: 38-55.

Chitturi, R., Raghunathan, R., & Mahajan, V. 2008. Delight by design: The role of hedonic versus utilitarian benefits. *Journal of Marketing.* 72 (3): 48-63.

Cole, C., & Balasubramanian, S. 1993. Age differences in consumers' search for information: Public policy implications. *The Journal of Consumer Research.* 20 (1): 157-169.

Cotterill, R., Putsis, W., & Dhar, R. 2000. Assessing the competitive interaction between private labels and national brands. *Journal of Business.* 73 (1): 109-136.

Cunningham, I., Hardy, A., & Imperia, G. 1982. Generic brands versus national brands and store brands. *Journal of Advertising Research.* 22: 25-32.

Dawar, N., & Parker, K. 1994. Marketing universals: Consumers' use of brand name, price, physical appearance and retailer reputation as a signal of product quality. *Journal of Marketing*. 58: 81-95.

DelVecchio, D. 2001. Consumer perceptions of private label quality: the role of product category characteristics and consumer use of heuristics. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services.* 8 (5): 239-49.

Deveny, K. 1993. Bargain hunters bag more store brands. *Wall Street Journal*. April15: B1, B10.

Dick, A., Jain, A., & Richardson, P. 1995. Correlates of store brand proneness: Some empirical observations. *Journal of Product and Brand Management*. 4 (4): 15-22.

Dick, A., Jain, A., & Richardson, P. 1997. How consumers evaluate store brands. *Pricing Strategy & Practice*. 5 (1): 18-24. Dunn, M., Murphy, P., & Skelly, G. 1986. Research note: The influence of perceived risk on brand preference for supermarket products. *Journal of Retailing*. 62: 204-217.

East, R. 1997. *Consumer Behavior – Advances and applications in Marketing*. London: Prentice Hall Europe.

Frank, R., & Boyd, H. 1965. Are private-brand prone grocery customers really different?. *Journal of Marketing Research*. 4: 27-35.

Gabor, A., & Granger, C. 1979. On the price consciousness of consumers. *Management Decision*. 17 (8): 551.

Garretson, J., Fisher, D., & Burton, S. 2002. Antecedents of private label attitude and national brand promotion attitude: Similarities and differences. *Journal of Retailing*. 78: 91-99.

Ghodeswar, B. 2007. Consumer decision making styles among Indian students. *Alliance Journal of Business Research*. 3: 36-48.

Hair, J., Black, W., Babin, B, & Anderson, R. 2010. *Multivariate Data Analysis*. New Jersey: Prentice Hall.

Hoch, S., & Banerji, S. 1993. When do private labels succeed?. *Sloan Management Review*. Winter: 57-67.

Hoch, S. 1996. How should national brands think about private labels?. *Sloan Management Review*. Winter: 89-102.

Inman, J., Shankar, V., & Ferraro, R. 2004. The roles of channel-category associations and geodemographics in channel patronage. *Journal of Marketing*. 68 (2): 51-71.

Kotler, P., & Armstrong, G. 2001. Marketing Management. New Jersey: Prentice-Hall.

Kotler, P. 2003. *Marketing Management*. New Jersey: Prentice-Hall.

Laurent, G., & Kapferer, J. 1985. Measuring consumer involvement profiles. *Journal of Marketing Research*. 22: 41-53.

Levy, S. 1959. Symbols for Sale. Harvard Business Review. 37 (4): 117–124.

Lichtenstein, D., Ridgway, N., & Netemeyer, R. 1993. Price perceptions and consumer shopping behavior: A field study. *Journal of Marketing Research.* 30: 234-45.

Liesse, J. 1993. Big name marketers are being stalked by strong, high quality store brands. *Advertising Age*. April: 1, 4.

Livesey, F., & Lennon, P. 1978. Factors affecting consumer' choice between manufacturer brands and retailer own brands. *European Journal of Marketing*. 12 (2): 158-170.

Lumpkin, J., Hawes, J., & Darden, W. 1986. Shopping patterns of the rural consumer: Exploring the relationship between shopping orientations and outshopping. *Journal of Business Research.* 14 (1): 63–82.

Malhotra, N. 2007. *Marketing Research: An Applied Orientation*. New Jersey: Prentice Hall.

Miranda, M., & Joshi, M. 2003. Australian retailers need to engage with private labels to achieve competitive difference. *Asia Pacific Journal of Marketing and Logistics*. 15 (3): 34-47.

Morton, F., & Zettelmeyer, F. 2000. *The strategic positioning of store brand in retailer-manufacturer bargaining*. NBER Working Paper 7712, National Bureau of Economic Research, Cambridge, MA.

Myers, J. 1967. Determinants of private brand attitude. *Journal of Marketing Research*. 4: 73-81.

Narasimhan, C., & Wilcox, R. 1998. Private labels and the channel relationship: A cross-category analysis. *Journal of Business*. 71 (4): 573-600.

Omar, O. 1996. Grocery purchase behavior for national and own-label brands. *Services Industries Journals*. 16 (1): 58-66.

Peter, J., & Olson, J. 2002. *Consumer Behavior and Marketing Strategy*. New York: McGraw-Hill/Irwin.

Purohit, D., & Srivastava, J. 2001. Effect of manufacturer reputation, retailer reputation, and product warranty on consumer judgments of product quality: a cue diagnostic framework. *Journal of Consumer Psychology*. 10 (3): 123-34.

Raju, J., Sethurman, R., & Dhar, S. 1995. The introduction and performance of store brands. *Management Science*. 41 (6): 957-978.

Raju, J., Sethurman, R., & Dhar, S. 1995. National brand-store brand price differential and store brand market share. *Pricing Strategy & Practice*. 3 (2): 17-24.

Richardson, P., Dick, A., & Jain, A. 1994. Extrinsic and intrinsic cue effects on perceptions of store brand quality. *Journal of Marketing*. 58 (4): 28-36.

Richardson, P., Jain, A., & Dick, A. 1996. Household store brands proneness: A framework. *Journal of Retailing*. 72 (2): 159-185.

Richardson, P., Jain, A., & Dick, A. 1996. The influence of store aesthetics on evaluation of private label brands. *Journal of Product and Brand Management*. 5 (1): 19-28.

Richins, M. 1994. Valuing things: The public and private meanings of possessions. *The Journal of Consumer Research*. 21: 504 - 521.

Sawyer, A., & Dickson, P. 1984. Psychological perspectives on consumer response to sales promotion. *Research on sales promotions: Collected papers* (pp. 1–21), Cambridge, MA: Marketing Science Institute.

Sethuraman, R. 1992. *The effect of marketplace factors on private label penetration in grocery products*. Marketing Science Institute Working Paper (pp. 92-128).

Sethuraman, R. 1992. *Understanding the cross-category differences in private label shares of grocery products*. Marketing Science Institute Working Paper (pp. 92-128).

Sethuraman, R., & Cole, C. 1999. Factors influencing the price premiums that consumers pay for national brands over store brands. *Journal of Product and Brand Management*. 8 (4): 340-351.

Schiffman, M., & Kanuk, L. 2000. *Comportamento do Consumidor*. Rio de Janeiro: Editora LTC.

Solomon, M. 1999. Consumer Behavior. New Jersey: Prentice-Hall.

Sprott, D., & Shimp, T. 2004. Using product sample to augment the perceived quality of store brands. *Journal of Retailing*. 80 (4): 305-15.

Szymanski, D., & Busch, P. 1987. Identifying the generic-prone consumer: A metaanalysis. *Journal of Marketing Research*. 24: 425-431.

Wolinsky, A. 1987. Brand names and price discrimination. *Journal of Industrial Economics*. 35: 255-268.

Zaichkowsky, J. 1985. Measuring the involvement construct. *Journal of Consumer Research*. 12: 341-352.

Zeithaml, V. 1988. Consumer perceptions of price, quality and value: A means-end model and synthesis of evidence. *Journal of Marketing*. 52: 2-22.

Attachment 1 – Questionnaire

Q1. Usually, are you the one who shops for you or your household for fast-moving consumer goods (FMCG), for the supply of your house (ex: groceries, personal hygiene, drinks, etc.)?

- Yes
- No

Q2. If yes, indicate where you, usually, do your shopping for FMCG. Indicate with an X the three places you go most frequently.

- Continente
- El Corte Inglês
- Feira Nova
- Intermarché
- Leclerc
- Lidl
- Minipreço
- Modelo
- Pingo Doce
- Jumbo
- Gourmet Stores
- Markets/Fairs
- Others

Q3. Do you or your family usually buy yogurts?

- Yes
- No

Q4. Do you usually interfere in the buying/selecting process of yogurts for your household?

- Yes
- No

Q5. With what frequency do you usually shop for yogurts in your household?

- Never
- More than twice a week
- Once or twice a week
- Twice a month
- Once a month

Q6. How many kinds of yogurt do you usually have in your house?

- 0
- 1
- 2
- 3
- >=4

Q7. Describe your shopping behavior, when buying store brands of yogurts, where 1 is never and 5 is always.

- Never
- Few times
- Sometimes
- Frequently
- Always

Q8. For the category of yogurts, indicate the distribution in terms of percentage between Store Brands (private label goods) and National Brands.

Example: Store Brands (%) + *National Brands* (%) = 100%

- Store Brands (%)
- National Brands (%)

Q9. Based on your experience as a buyer of yogurts for the supply of your household, indicate the level of agreement of the affirmations presented below, where 1 means "entirely disagree" and 5 means "entirely agree".

1. There are no real consequences if I buy the wrong brand of yogurts.				
2. It's very unpleasant to buy a bad type of yogurt.				
3. I would be very upset if after I bought a type of yogurts, I came to find out they had low quality.				
4. When I buy a brand of yogurts, I never know which one to choose.				
5. When I'm in front of a supermarket shelf of yogurts, I have a hard time making a decision.				
6. Choosing a brand of yogurts is very complicated.				
7. When I buy yogurts I never know if I've made the right choice.				
8. You get to know a lot about a person through the yogurts they buy.				
9. The brand of yogurts I buy says a lot about the type of person I am.				
10. The yogurts you buy say a lot about the type of person you are.				
11. I get pleasure from buying yogurts.				
12. Buying yogurts is like buying a present for me.				
13. Yogurts are something that gives me pleasure.				
14. Yogurts are something I give a lot of importance to.				
15. I have great interest in yogurts.				
16. Yogurts are something that is indifferent to me.				
17. I have a favorite of brand of yogurts.				
18. Normally, I worry a lot about the brand of yogurts I buy.				
19. I'm willing to make an effort to look for my favorite brand of yogurts.				
20. I would expect a hyper and supermarket to sell a brand of yogurts.				
21. Hyper and supermarkets and yogurts appear to fit together really well.				
22. In my perception, yogurts are one of the products that are closely associated with hyper and supermarkets				
supermarkets.				

23. Whenever I want to buy yogurts, hyper and supermarkets are one of the types of store I will think of.

Q10. Based on your experience as a buyer for the supply of your household, indicate the level of agreement of the affirmations presented below, where 1 means "entirely disagree" and 5 means "entirely agree".

1. Generally, the higher the price of a product, the higher the quality of it.

2. The money I save looking for low prices doesn't compensate the time and effort spent.

3. I'm not willing to make extra efforts to find lower prices.

4. I shop in more than one store to take advantage of low prices.

5. I never shop in more than one store with the objective of finding lower prices.

6. I normally look for products with lower prices, but only buy them if they meet the quality requirements.

7. When I shop for groceries, I compare prices of different brands to be sure I make the most of my money.

8. When I buy a product, I like to be sure that the money is well spent.

9. I always confirm the prices of products to be sure I make the best possible purchase.

10. When I buy a product, I try to always maximize the quality obtained from the money spent.

11. I worry a lot about paying low prices, but I equally worry about product quality.

12. The saying "you get what you pay" is normally true.

13. The price of a product is a good indicator of its quality.

14. We always pay a bit more for the best.

15. In most product categories, the best purchase is always store brands.

16. Taking into consideration the value of money, I prefer store brands to national brands.

17. Buying private labels makes me feel good.

18. When I buy private label products, I always feel like I'm making a good deal.

19. Generally, private label products are low quality.

20. I get happy when I find private labels available in the product categories I usually buy.

Q11. Gender

- Male
- Female

Q12. Age Group

- 18-25
- 26-35
- 36 50
- 50 64
- >= 65

Q13. Occupation/Profession

- Senior
- Middle Management
- Professional/Entrepreneurs
- Employee Services/Business /Administrative
- Retired/Pensioner/Unemployed
- Students
- Domestic
- Other

Q14. Number of people in your household

- 1
- 2
- 3
- 4
- >= 5

Q15. Qualifications

- 9th Grade
- 10th-12th Grade
- Professional Course
- Bachelor's Degree
- Post-graduation/Master
- PhD

Q16. Marital Status

- Single
- Married
- Widower
- Divorced

Q17. Monthly income of the household

- < 500€
- 500€ to 999€
- 1000€ to 1499€
- 1500€ to 2499€
- 2500€ to 4999€
- >= 5000€